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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Surrounded by acres of open fields, stone walls and woodlands, the Abel H. Fish 
House sits far back from the road in a rural area of Salem, Connecticut. A long 
driveway, formerly a country lane, leads up to the house, but the main facade is on 
the south side away from the road, looking out over the fields and woods. The 
house is 2% stories high, dates from the 1830s, and is Greek Revival in inspiration. 
It is of post-and-beara construction and has a clapboarded exterior. The main 
facade is four bays wide with the entrance offset to the west. The panelled door is 
surrounded by sidelights and a transom, with the whole enclosed by plain pilasters 
supporting a simple entablature. The lintel over the doorway is an accurate 
restoration of the original, which had left a visible outline. There are plain 
corner pilasters, a full entablature encircling the building, and on the west gable 
end, facing the driveway, a full return of the cornice and a triangular window 
lighting the attic. Windows have plain frames and their original six-over-six sash. 
The brick central chimney was rebuilt from the attic up and is somewhat reduced in 
proportion from the typical stack of the period. The underpinning is fieldstone 
below grade with granite blocks above.

Appended to the east end of the house is a separately-framed 1% story wing with 
two small rooms. The wing appears somewhat older than the main house: its hewn 
ridgepiece and plank walls suggest a date of about 1800; the main house has walls 
formed with studs and sawn roof rafters simply butted together. The south wall of 
the wing has been partly recessed to form a porch and there is a picture window 
lighting one room. Like the main house, the wing has a wood-shingled roof and a tall 
brick stack partly re-built. Attached is a modern breezeway leading to a garage. The 
only outbuilding is directly south of the house, a small barn of uncertain age. 
It has a rubble foundation, board siding, and a shed-roofed addition to the south.

Because of the placement of the entrance, the plan of the main house is somewhat 
unusual. There is a stair hall just within the entrance, a small room to the left, 
a large room with fireplace to the right, a parlor in the northwest corner, and 
another small room in the northeast corner, the latter now partitioned to form a 
pantry adjacent to the wing. The wing contains the kitchen and another small room 
behind the stack. Throughout the main house are the original oak floors of medium- 
width boards, beaded casings around the posts, wall-papered plaster walls and 
plaster ceilings, and four-panel doors. In the two large first-floor rooms and the 
hall, the door and window openings are surrounded by heavy molded frames with 
crossets in the upper corners. In addition, the parlor windows and the sidelights 
in the hall have sunken panels beneath the sills. There are five small stone-and~ 
brick fireplaces, including two in the chambers above, and each has a rather plain 
mantel. The parlor mantel (around a fireplace still closed off) is a pilaster-and- 
lintel design recalling the main entrance treatment, and the others are simple 
frames with molded shelves. The large southeast room has a cupboard built into one 
side of the mantel with a single panel balancing it on the other side. The kitchen 
fireplace is large than the others; it has a very wide stone lintel and a separate 
bake oven covered by a cast-iron door. One of the kitchen walls shows remains of a 
dado of wide horizontal boards. In the rear room of the wing is a stone hearth 
built out to accomodate a very large iron vat. The most striking interior feature, 
however, is the curving hall stairway, an open stringer with the ends of the risers 
covered by a single board bent around the quarter-turn of the stairway. There seems 
never to have been a rail, but there are simple square newel posts and a plain 
railing at the top of the stairs. The posts are nearly identical replacements for 
the originals, which were recently discovered in the attic.
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About nine acres of the open fields surrounding the house and barn were 
included in the nominated property, though the extent of land under the same 
ownership is much larger. The nominated rectangle is necessary if the land 
immediately surrounding the house and barn is to border on a public road. The 
amount of frontage, 650', is reasonable if the clearly demarcated fields are 
to be treated as units. Moreover, it is necessary to include some farm land 
to provide context for the buildings. The nominated nine acres provide an 
agricultural setting for the structures without including excessive acreage 
and without isolating the property from the public way.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Abel H. Fish House is significant because it typifies the style and work­ 
manship of the rural vernacular architecture of early 19th-century Connecticut. 
It is a representative example of a Greek Revival farmhouse (Criterion C), and it 
is in a good state of preservation, with most of its original material intact. 
Although it was not the house of a wealthy person, it contains some notable, refined 
interior elements, and the house has a few features such as the stairway which are 
of interest because of their rarity.

From 1830 through the 1860s, the Greek Revival was the most common source for 
the architecture of rural Connecticut. A few houses were elaborate, with columns 
and temple-like porticoes, but the greater number were simple, boxy houses, made 
Classical with corner pilasters, a returned cornice, and a pilaster-and-lintel 
entrance treatment. The Fish House is one of these. In its form and its 
appropriate materials - clapboards, original sash, the wood-shingled roof - the 
Abel Fish House embodies the typical 1830s farmhouse. The triangular gable window 
is somewhat more uncommon, but it nevertheless is often found in houses of the 
period. More frequent was the use of a simple oblong opening, or the builder may 
have carried over the semi-elliptical (and un-Greek) shape favored in the Federal 
period. The triangular light was a better solution for illuminating the attic, 
however, since it emphasized the pediment shape of the gable, giving that facade 
greater strength. Except for its rebuilt stacks, part of the entrance frame, and 
the remodelled south wall of the wing, the Fish House retains all of its early 
appearance, including those features which are most typical of the genre.

The interior is similarly well-preserved and contains many elements which 
are representative of the country Greek Revival style. Many interior features, 
such as the kitchen dado, the cased posts, and the four-panel doors, are little 
changed from 18th-century interiors. The oak floor boards are not as wide as the 
great planks found in early houses, yet they differ from the narrow matched boards 
of the later 19th century. The boldness of the door and window moldings is central 
to the Greek Revival taste and a contrast with the delicate, small-scale detail 
favored in the earlier, Federal period. Although the mantels are all very simple, 
the house is saved from starkness by the crossetted door and window frames and by 
the panelled areas beneath the window sills in the hall and parlor. These details 
add a sense of refinement to an otherwise simple interior. They show that the 
builder was aware of decorative motifs commonly found in the more formal houses of 
the period, and that he was able to adapt some of them for the best rooms of this 
house. In many ways, the Abel Fish House is the 1830s equivalent of the 18th-century 
saltbox, a plain functional dwelling with some exceptionally good woodwork in one 
or two rooms.

Two features are quite uncommon. One is the boiler built into the back of the 
kitchen stack. Probably used for making soap, the iron pot and stone hearth holding
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it are rarely found, either because they were never common or else because they 
fell victim to renovation. The other unusual feature is the circular stairway. 
It has been suggested that the entrance was first on the west gable end (the more 
usual arrangement, given the form and orientation of the house) and that the 
spiralling staircase was installed when the entrance was moved to the south side. 
Whether original or not, the stairs as well as the interior of the hallway appear 
to be early work, and it is unlikely that much time elapsed between the building 
of the house and the staircase, if indeed such a change took place. Like the 
parlor woodwork, the stairs make this house somewhat out of the ordinary.

Abel H. Fish (1789-1870) was a farmer of rather modest means. He bought this 
tract of 165 acres, known as the Bulkeley farm, in 1826. Although his family was 
from Groton, Connecticut, another related branch of the Fish family had lived in 
this immediate vicinity since the 18th century. Fish ran a diversified farm, 
raising potatoes and dairy products for market. In addition to the usual half 
dozen each of cows, pigs, and draft animals, he had about 40 or 45 sheep and thus 
sold a considerable amount of wool. He was called Deacon Abel Fish, and though 
church records have not been found to confirm it, he was probably a Baptist leader 
in Salem or nearby Colchester. 1 Although it is not known precisely what year he 
built the house, probably incorporating an earlier structure into the kitchen wing, 
the house reflects well Fish's middling social status. It has none of the elegance 
or pretensions to wealth such as a large landowner or country merchant might afford, 
yet neither is it rustic or lacking in decorative woodwork.

Abel was the brother of Horatio Nelson Fish, a sea-captain and a prominent 
Baptist leader in Groton.


